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OPINION
PER CURIAM:

On April 24, 1995, afederal grand jury in the Middle District of
North Carolinareturned an indictment charging Mitchell Washington
King ("King") with one count of possession with intent to distribute
210.3 grams of "cocaine base (“crack’),” in violation of 21 U.S.C.

§ 841(a)(1), and with one count of carrying or using afirearmin rela-
tion to adrug trafficking offense, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 924(c).
On June 22, 1995, the jury found King guilty of one count of posses-
sion with intent to distribute. King appeals, arguing first that there
was insufficient evidence to support a conviction; second that the trial
court erred in denying his motion to suppress; third that the district
court erred in sentencing him based on possession of"crack” cocaine
as the Government did not prove by a preponderance of the evidence
that the cocaine base was sodium bicarbonate; fourth that the district
court committed plain error in failing to give alesser-included offense
instruction on simple possession; and fifth that the trial court erred in
failing to give a"missing witness" instruction.

On January 21, 1998, King filed a motion to supplement the appen-
dix. The Court grants King's motion to supplement the appendix and
affirms the district court on the merits.

The defendant filed a motion to suppress the evidence seized dur-

ing aMarch 24, 1995 search of 1020-C East Fifth Street, Winston-
Salem, NC1 by officers of the Winston-Salem Police Department and
the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms. The motion challenged

1 The apartment is located near the intersection of East Fifth Street and
Martin Luther King, Jr. Drive, an area reputed as a high drug and violent
crime area, according to Senior Police Officer Tracy Golding.
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the sufficiency of the search warrant executed that day. Police arrived
at the residence at 6:30 am,2 and six officers approached the common
doorway and entered. The team then ascended the stairway leading to
Apartment C where they found alanding in front of the apartment,
approximately six feet wide, that could hold only two members of the
team. Those two officers knocked on the door, announcing "Police
officer, search warrant," but they heard no noisesinside. Threeto five
seconds later, the officers used a battering ram to open the door.
Inside the residence, the police found Audley Casanova (" Casanova'),
a co-defendant, asleep on a bed in one of the bedrooms. At the foot

of his bed, the officers found aloaded 9mm firearm. The officers
located King in the other bedroom from which there was a clear view
of the police team approaching for approximately 25 feet, had King
looked out the window.

The team then searched the apartment. In Casanova's room, the
officers found five firearms, at least three of which were loaded; abag
of "crack" cocaine; a bag of powder cocaine; and $6,000in U.S. cur-
rency in a hidden compartment found by removing the windowsill.

2 According to the testimony of Officer Golding, who was assigned to
the Special Enforcement Team, atactical unit within the police depart-
ment responsible for avariety of high risk situations, the team assembled
at the police department at 6:00 am. The officers were briefed on the
search and were told that there could be three to four individualsin the
apartment. Further, the officers were told that several informants had
observed numerous firearms within the apartment and that one of the
occupants had been seen carrying a 9mm at amost all times. This testi-
mony was corroborated by Detective Ernestine Ruiz who testified that
she informed the team there could be firearms within the residence,
based on information from several confidential informants.

The search warrant contained information that individuals had

observed as many as six firearms within the residence as early as January
1995 and as | ate as the week immediately preceding the search. There
was testimony at tria that the three occupants of the residence were
described as all being 250 pounds. One occupant was'Rhea" who was
described as five feet nine inches tall, with short hair; one was "Mike"
who was five feet five inches tall, 250 pounds and approximately 34
years old; and one was "Gus' who was six feet three inchestall, 250
pounds, approximately 36 years old, dark complexion and had a gold
tooth. King is 31 years old, five feet and eight inches and 185 pounds.
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Under the carpet along the wall, the officers found an additional
$1,315in U.S. currency. Counsel for both Casanova and King and for
the Government stipulated that the bags were properly tested at the
toxicology laboratory. The first bag contained 104.04 grams of

cocaine base and the second bag contained 43.39 grams of cocaine base.3
Based on this stipulation, the trial judge told the jury that the issue

was not in dispute.

In the kitchen, the officers located the following items: two sets of
scales located in a cabinet adjacent to the stove; a package of "crack”
cocaine located in the exhaust fan above the stove; 4 a smaller amount
of "crack" cocaine located in another cabinet; packaging materials
customarily used for "crack" cocaine in a cabinet; and $18,510in U.S.
currency located in alight fixture above the sink. The parties stipu-
lated that the package from the exhaust fan contained 104.91 grams

of cocaine base and the package from the cabinet .89 grams of
cocaine base. In ahall closet, the officers found currency in the
amount of $330 and $4,900 in the pocket of two coats. Over 30 coats
werein the closet. The police officers did not know the sizes of the
two jackets containing the cash.

In King's room, which was located at the far end of the apartment
from the kitchen and Casanova's room, the officers found a driver's
license in King's name which listed a different Winston-Salem
address, located on atelevision set; areceipt for payment of adriver's
license fee and a document for community service work, both in
King's name, seized from awallet in apair of pants within the room;
asmall piece of "crack" cocaine seized from the same pair of pants;
$114 U.S. currency found under the bed's mattress; and a pager
immediately adjacent to the bed. The small piece of cocaine was stip-
ulated by all partiesto be cocaine base weighing .5 grams.

During booking procedures, King gave his address as 1020-C East
Fifth Street, Winston-Salem, N.C. and stated he was from Jamaica.
However, King now claims heis a Canadian resident. King asserts

3 Although Detective Mitchell identified the smaller bag of drugs found
in the windowsill as powder cocaine at tria, the parties stipulated at trial
that the smaller bag also contained cocaine base.

4 This package was found with the help of a drug-sniffing dog.
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that two documents, his driver's license bearing another Winston-
Salem address and a document introduced into evidence at trial which
showed a Canadian address, prove he lied at booking and, in fact, he
did not live at the 1020-C apartment.5 Further, King's girlfriend,
Tammy Jackson, testified that King spent the night in the 1020-C
apartment because she and King, whom she has been dating since
February 1994, had afight that night. Otherwise, she testified King
dept at her residence. It is not disputed that no fingerprints were taken
at the apartment, no witnesses testified that King lived in the apart-
ment or that King had been seen at the apartment before March 24,
1995, and the documents admitted into evidence did not show the
apartment as King's address.

At the June 6, 1995 motions hearing, the Government argued that
exigent circumstances existed for using the battering ram to enter,
thereby making the search valid. Specifically, the Government con-
tended that the view from the apartment gave the residents notice of
the officers approach and time to destroy evidence; a controlled buy
had occurred within 72 hours; there was information that the residents
were armed; and there was a reasonable basis to generally believe that
drug dealers would destroy contraband. The Government contended
these facts amounted to exigent circumstances. King also filed a
motion to sever. The district court denied these motions. King pro-
ceeded to trial on June 21, 1995. At the conclusion of the Govern-
ment's evidence, King moved for judgment of acquittal asto both
counts pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 29(a). Thetrial court denied the
motion. King rested after presenting one witness, his girlfriend.

On June 22, 1995, the jury found King guilty of possession with
intent to distribute and not guilty of possession of afirearm. King
moved again for judgment of acquittal pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P.
29 and for anew trial pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 33. Thetria court
denied King's motions in a memorandum opinion filed August 23,
1995.

King was sentenced, on January 3, 1996, to 176 months incarcera-

5 The booking officer did notice a car with a Canadian license plate on
the street.



tion, 5 years supervised release, and a $50 special assessment. King
filed atimely notice of appeal.

In reviewing the denia of a motion to suppress, the district court's
factual findings are reviewed for clear error, and the legal conclusion
that the Government's actions were justified is reviewed de novo. See
United States v. Rusher, 966 F.2d 868, 873 (4th Cir.), cert. denied,
_Us _ ,113ScCt. 351(1992).

A. Validity of the Search Warrant

Probable cause has been defined as it pertains to search warrants

as "afair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be
found in a particular place.” lllinoisv. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238
(1983). Additionally, the Court must look to the'totality of the cir-
cumstances' surrounding the search. Seeid. ; United Statesv. Clyburn,
24 F.3d 613, 617 (4th Cir.) (stating that atotality of the circumstances
analysis "considers the informant's reliability and the basis of the
informant's knowledge."), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 907 (1994). Great
deference should be accorded a magistrate judge's assessment of the
factsin determining probable cause. See Gates, 462 U.S. at 236.

If the district court's decision to admit evidence obtained as a result

of asearch warrant was based on afinding that the information avail-
able to the magistrate judge provided a substantial basis for conclud-
ing that probable cause existed, that reasoning will be upheld on
appeal. See United Statesv. Blackwood, 913 F.2d 139, 142 (4th Cir.
1990). Thetask of areviewing court is not to conduct a de novo deter-
mination of probable cause, but to determine whether there is substan-
tial evidence in the record supporting the magistrate judge's decision
to issue the warrant. See Massachusetts v. Upton , 466 U.S. 727, 728
(1984).

King contends the affidavit in this case is deficient for several rea
sons. Firgt, the affidavit is based on unsworn, hearsay statements from
unnamed informants, and it did not specify how many informants
existed. Second, the affidavit contained only conclusory assertions by
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the police that the information provided in February 1995 came from
areliable informant. See Gates, 462 U.S. at 239 ("An officer's state-
ment that “[a]ffiants have received reliable information from a credi-
ble person and believe' that heroin is stored in ahome, is. . .
inadequate [to establish probable cause].") (quoting Aguilar v. Texas,
378 U.S. 108 (1964), overruled by Gates, 462 U.S. at 238). Third, the
affidavit described two "controlled buys' of crack cocaine by
unnamed informants, but neither was actually monitored by the police.6
Fourth, the affidavit does not corroborate the informants' story by any
other means. Fifth, the affidavit relies on information from January
1995 that could be up to 51 days old, and information from February
1995 that was at least 23 days old, and there is no clear assertion that
the informant providing this information was credible.

The defendant pointsto Clyburn as setting the standard that "con-
trolled buys' must meet in order to find probable cause and argues
that this case fails to meet that standard.7 The controlled buys were

6 The affidavit describes the two"controlled buys* as one in the month
of February 1995 and one within the 72 hours preceding the i ssuance of
the affidavit. Each "controlled buy" was performed by officers watching
the informant enter the "front door," noting that the informant was gone
for a short time and then waiting for the informant to return to the offi-
cers location with an amount of crack cocaine. The defendant asserts the
"controlled buys' were inadequate as it is unclear whether this "front
door" is the common front door on the first floor or the front door of
Apartment C, the informant was out of view for atime, the informant's
conversations were unmonitored and the amount of crack cocaine turned
over is not specified.

7 In Clyburn, the district court defined a " controlled buy" as follows:

law enforcement officers search the informant to make sure that
[the informant] does not have any illegal narcotics before the
purchase; officers provide the informant with marked bills with
which to purchase the drugs; officers place a body wire on the
informant and monitor all conversations during the purchase; the
informant is placed under visual surveillance during the pur-
chase; and the informant turns over the contraband to the officers
immediately after the purchase.

23 F.3d at 615 n.1. The difference between our case and Clyburn is that
in this case, there were several informants providing information relied
upon in the affidavit, the "controlled buys" were not monitored through
awiretap and it is unclear if there was avisual sighting of the informant
actually entering Apartment C.
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only a part of the evidence considered in the magistrate judge's find-
ing of probable cause. However, even if we found that probable cause
was lacking, the evidence seized in the instant case would be admissi-
ble so long as the warrant was issued by a neutral and detached mag-
istrate judge and the executing officers reliance on the warrant was
objectively reasonable. See United Statesv. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 926
(1984); United States v. Edwards, 798 F.2d 686, 690 (4th Cir. 1986)
(stating officer's reliance must be "entirely unreasonable” for exclu-
sion to be appropriate remedy). The Supreme Court has noted that
rarely will searches pursuant to a warrant require a deep inquiry into
reasonabl eness because a warrant issued by a magistrate judge nor-
mally sufficesto establish that alaw enforcement officer has acted in
good faith. See Leon, 468 U.S. at 922.

The Leon Court outlined four situationsin which an officer's reli-
ance on a search warrant would not be reasonable: 1) the magistrate
judge was misled by information in the affidavit that the officer
"knew was false or would have known was fal se except for his reck-
less disregard for the truth;" 2) the magistrate judge "wholly aban-
doned hisjudicia role;" 3) the affidavit was'so lacking in indicia of
probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely
unreasonable;” and 4) "depending on the circumstances of the particu-
lar case, awarrant may be so facially deficient that the officers cannot
reasonably presumeit to be valid." Leon, 468 U.S. at 923; United
States v. Clutchette, 24 F.3d 577, 581 (4th Cir. 1994).

The defendant relies on United States v. Wilhelm , 80 F.3d 116, 123
(4th Cir. 1996), to show that the officer's reliance was unreasonable
because under the third Leon exception, the affidavit "did not provide
the magistrate with a substantial basis for determining the existence
of probable cause." In Wilhelm, the search warrant affidavit asserted
that the informant was reliable and had personally observed residents
selling marijuana as well as seeing marijuanain the residence itself.
Seeid. at 118. The only corroboration provided was that the direc-
tions to the residence were verified, the description provided of mari-
juana "sounded accurate" and the informant's description of the
packaging "sounded consistent” with how marijuanais packaged and
sold. Id. Further, the affiant merely asserted that the informant "pro-
jected atruthfull [sic] demeanor” to support her credibility. 1d. at 120.
This Circuit held that "this affidavit fell far short of providing proba-
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ble cause for a search warrant" pointing to such cases as United States
v. Gibson, 928 F.2d 250 (8th Cir. 1991), to support that holding.8 Id.
We went on to hold that no Leon exception applied to such a"bare
bones" affidavit. Seeid. at 123. This Circuit noted that any affidavit
with less corroboration than United States v. Edwards, 798 F.2d 686
(4th Cir. 1986),9 could not support a Leon exception. Seeid.

The affidavit in this case contained far more valuable information
than the affidavit in either Wilhelm or Edwards. The affidavit gives
directions to the residence and notes that the informant has seen drugs
and firearms in the residence and on the residents person. Further,

the affidavit describes the persons allegedly living there, information
which was corroborated by the officers through monitored "controlled
buys." Therefore, the affidavit "provide[d] the magistrate with a sub-
stantial basis for determining the existence of probable cause," and
Leon'sthird exception is applicable.

8 In Gibson, the Eighth Circuit found that probable cause was lacking
and no exception applied when police relied on the informant saying hus-
band and wife were dealing drugs from a particular address. Seeid. at
252. Further, the informant provided details including the claim that he
was in the house, had seen drugsin the basement, a new shipment was
expected in afew days, a pitbull was outside and a Doberman was inside,
and three particular vehicles were parked at the house. Seeid. Police ver-
ified the house location and residents names, described the vehicles that
were outside, they observed a pitbull and noted house probably had a
basement. Seeid.

9 In Edwards, an informant told police he had been in aresidence that
contained alarge quantity of marijuana and the affidavit asserted the
informant had "the ability to reconginnize [sic] marijuana from past
experience." Seeid. at 688. Further, the affidavit asserted the informant
had indicated that the "marijuana may be moved by 4;00 [sic] AM on the
[sic] 1-22-85 because the subject [Edwards] was planning atrip" and the
informant described and gave the license number of avehicle Edwards
rented. Seeid. The Wilhelm Court noted that there was "far more valu-
able information” in the Edwards affidavit because the informant specifi-
cally indicated when, why and how the informant believed the marijuana
was to be moved, establishing probable cause. See Wilhelm, 80 F.3d at
122.




B. Execution of the Search Warrant

King also asserts that the search warrant was improperly executed.
"The Fourth Amendment protects the “right of the people to be secure
in their persons, houses, papers and effects against unreasonable
searches and seizures." United States v. Gastiaburo, 16 F.3d 582,

585 (4th Cir.) (quoting U.S. Const. amend. V), cert. denied, 513 U.S.
829 (1994). Asaguard against intrusive governmental action, Con-
gress passed 18 U.S.C. § 3109 which states:

The officer may break open any outer or inner door or win-
dow of ahouse, or any part of ahouse, or anything therein,
to execute a search warrant, if, after notice of his authority
and purpose, heis refused admittance or when necessary to
liberate himself or a person aiding him in the execution of
the warrant.

The Supreme Court has recently concluded, in an unanimous opinion,
that afailure to knock and announce may create a Fourth Amendment
violation, absent acceptable reasons for the failure. See Wilson v.
Arkansas, 514 U.S. 927, 932 (1995). In the instant case, the officers
clearly complied with the knock portion of the "knock and announce"
provisions of § 3109 as the officers stated"Police officers, search
warrant” outside Apartment C. However, King asserts that the officers
did not completely comply with § 3109 because the officers only
waited three to five seconds before using a battering ram to force
entry into the apartment.

An officer must comply completely with the "knock and announce"
provision of § 3109 unless there are exigent circumstances which
warrant immediate entry. See United States v. Kennedy, 32 F.3d 876,
882 (4th Cir. 1994), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 1128 (1995). Whether exi-
gent circumstances existed at the time of entry and whether the degree
of the exigency was sufficient to justify the extent of the non-
compliance is afact-specific inquiry. Seeid. ; United Statesv. Lucht,
18 F.3d 541, 549 (8th Cir.), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 949 (1994). Exi-
gent circumstances include the possible destruction of evidence and
danger to police. See Kennedy, 32 F.3d at 882; United Statesv. Lalor,
996 F.2d 1578, 1584 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 983 (1993);
United States v. Buckley, 4 F.3d 552, 558 (7th Cir. 1993), cert.
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denied, 510 U.S. 1124 (1994); Mensh v. Dyer , 956 F.2d 36, 40 (4th
Cir. 1991).

This Court has held that the police must have a*particul arized
basisfor their belief that evidence would be destroyed,” Lalor, 996
F.2d at 1584, which is not present here.10 However, we find that exi-
gent circumstances did exist in the form of fear for the safety of the
officers. Firearms are well recognized as "tools of the trade" in the
illegal drug business. See United Statesv. Hinds, 856 F.2d 438, 443
(4th Cir. 1988); United States v. Brockington , 849 F.2d 872, 876 (4th
Cir. 1988), abrogated on other grounds by Bailey v. United States,
516 U.S. 137 (1995). We recognize that law enforcement personnel
place themselvesin harm's way when they enter areas of drug traf-
ficking. See United States v. Bonner, 874 F.2d 822, 827 (4th Cir.
1989). Whileit is unclear whether a blanket rule permitting no-knock
entriesin narcotics casesis justifiable, 11 "[the Fourth Circuit] and oth-
ers have recognized that narcotics searches might present exigent cir-
cumstances." Lalor, 996 F.2d at 1584; see also Bonner, 874 F.2d at
824 ("[E]ntrance into a situs of drug trafficking activity carries all too
real dangers to law enforcement officers. That danger increased once
the officers identified themselves and waited before the door, forced
to interpret the import of the sounds within."); United Statesv.
Couser, 732 F.2d 1207, 1208 (4th Cir. 1984).

The defendant relies on United States v. Stewart , 867 F.2d 581
(10th Cir. 1989), to argue that afinding of exigent circumstances
based on officer safety is not warranted here. In Stewart, the police
entered a house without knocking and announcing, relying only on
the inherent danger of a defendant dealing in drugs to justify their

10 In Laor, this Court held that a blanket suggestion that drugs are eas-
ily disposed of is not enough to create an exigent circumstance. Seeid.
In this case, thereis insufficient evidence to warrant a finding of exigent
circumstances based on afear that the evidence will be destroyed. There
was no hoise coming from the apartment implying the occupants of the
apartment were awake or destroying evidence, nor was there information
provided by informants that evidence was about to be moved or
destroyed.

11 See United Statesv. M oore, 956 F.2d 843, 850 (8th Cir. 1992) (find-
ing such ablanket ruleis not justifiable).
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actions. Seeid. at 582. The Tenth Circuit rejected this reasoning as
no particular facts supporting possible danger were present. Seeid. at
586.

Our caseis distinguishable from Stewart for several reasons. First,
the search warrant describes in great detail the firearms seen at the
residence and carried by at least one of the inhabitants. See Lalor, 996
F.2d at 1584 (finding exigent circumstances based on risk of police
safety when "aweapon had been found [nearby] when Lalor was
arrested on January 24, 1990 and in his prior encounter with the
police on January 6, 1990, Lalor was belligerent and made derogatory
remarks about the police.") (footnotes omitted). Second, the apart-
ment was located in an area plagued by drug dealing and violent
crime. Third, as noted by the district court, the officers were "in-
formed of drug activity in abuilding, [and the] presence of three or
four people in the building.” Fourth, the police were visible for 25
yards while they approached the apartment and could have been seen
had someone been awake, though there was no evidence that anyone
was watching. Fifth, the officers did announce their presence and pur-
pose before entering, and as the district court noted, isit realy the
laws meaning that the officers were suppose to give the occupants of
the apartment sufficient time to arm themselves while the officers
waited outside?12 Sixth, the circumstances in Stewart were more
severe than herein that once the officersin Stewart entered with the
battering ram, they threw full charge stun grenades which blinded and
disoriented the occupants for five to ten seconds, and there was no
information concerning firearms being present in the residence prior
to the search. See 867 F.2d at 584. Finally, the defendant's assertion
that the time of day made the likelihood of emergency slight does not
affect the Court's exigent circumstances analysis. See United States

v. Davis, 617 F.2d 677, 696 (D.C. Cir. 1979) (finding exigent circum-
stances when police arrived at 2:00 am, knocked upon the door,
waited only 15-30 seconds, heard no noise within, but only observed
lightsinside). Therefore, the district court properly found that exigent
circumstances existed.

12 Inthis case, it islikely at least Casanova may have armed himself,
considering the armed weapon found at his feet, if the police had woken
him up with their cry.

12



In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, the appellate court

"will sustain the jury's verdict "if thereis substantial evidence, taking
the view most favorable to the Government, to support it." United
States v. Jackson, 124 F.3d 607, 610 (4th Cir. 1997) (quoting Glasser
v. United States, 315 U.S. 60, 80 (1942)). "Substantial evidenceis
evidence that a reasonable finder of fact would accept as adequate and
sufficient to support a conclusion of a defendant's guilt beyond area-
sonable doubt.” 1d. In determining the sufficiency of the evidence, the
Court considers all of the evidence, both direct and circumstantial.
See Glasser, 315 U.S. at 80; United Statesv. Vea, 402 F.2d 793, 794
(4th Cir. 1968).

To prove this offense, the government must prove beyond a reason-
able doubt "knowing possession of the drug with intent to distribute
it." United States v. Crockett, 813 F.2d 1310, 1316 (4th Cir.), cert.
denied, 484 U.S. 834 (1987). "Actual possession of the drug is not
required; constructive possession . . . suffices.” United Statesv.
Samad, 754 F.2d 1091, 1096 (4th Cir. 1985), cert. denied, 484 U.S.
834 (1987). "Constructive possession exists when the defendant exer-
cises, or has the power to exercise, dominion and control over the
item." United Statesv. Morrison, 991 F.2d 112, 114 (4th Cir. 1993);
Samad, 754 F.2d at 1096.

The Government must also prove an intent to distribute. Intent to
distribute can be proven by the quantity and packaging of drugs so as
to distinguish it from personal use. See United Statesv. Lamarr, 75
F.3d 964, 973 (4th Cir. 1996). Possession of a small quantity of drugs
is an insufficient basis to prove intent to distribute. See United States
v. Fisher, 912 F.2d 728, 730 (4th Cir. 1990).

This Circuit has often held that when a defendant residesin a home
where drugs and drug paraphernalia are found in common and acces-
sible areas, there is sufficient evidence to convict that resident of pos-
session with intent to distribute. See United States v. Morrison, 991
F.2d 112, 114-15 (4th Cir. 1993) (asserting that this case was unlike
those where mere presence was involved because Morrison lived at
the residence with her husband, police had observed activity consis-
tent with house being used for distribution, Morrison wasin the
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kitchen where cocaine was present, and when asked for a "quarter,”
which referred to a quarter-size piece of crack, Morrison responded
"she could not do it" as opposed to asking"what is a “quarter™);
Goldsmith v. Witkowski, 981 F.2d 697, 702 (4th Cir. 1992) (overturn-
ing conviction when Goldsmith did not reside or frequent the prem-
ises and there was no showing that he was alone with the drugs when
the police entered even though drugs were close by and in plain sight
at the time of arrest); see also United Statesv. Dunlap, 28 F.2d 823,
826 (8th Cir. 1994) (overturning conviction of visitor to home
because mere presence in the apartment and possessions found in the
kitchen were not enough to sustain conviction); United Statesv.
Zeigler, 994 F.2d 845, 847-48 (D.C. Cir. 1993) (overturning convic-
tion of frequent visitor based on crack cocaine, handguns and money
found in laundry room that was inaccessible to guests); United States
v. Davis, 562 F.2d 681, 685 (D.C. Cir. 1977) (holding sufficient evi-
dence was presented to convict defendant who lived in the premises
where drugs were openly displayed).

King was found in aroom that contained .5 gram of cocaine which,
taken alone, is consistent with personal use, though no implements for
ingestion were found. See United States v. Webster, 639 F.2d 174,
188-89 (4th Cir. 1981) (reversing conviction for conspiracy to possess
with intent to distribute narcotics where quantity and value of
assumed drug purchases was consistent with maintenance of a per-
sonal habit). However, there was evidence that King resided at
1020-C East Fifth Street, and therefore, had access to common areas
of the home. During the booking procedures, King gave his address
as 1020-C East Fifth Street. Further, King was found sleeping in the
apartment, in his own separate room, where his clothes and posses-
sions were found. The evidence that King resided el sewhere isinter-
nally inconsistent. The driver's license, other paperwork, and his
girlfriend's testimony are inconsistent in establishing an alternative
address for the defendant. Therefore, the jury had sufficient evidence
to find that King resided at the premises searched.

In addition to King's association with the cocaine and cocaine base
found in the common areas of the apartment, an amount of cocaine
base was found in the defendant's clothes, indicating an association
with "crack” cocaine, and a pager and $114 were found in his room,
lending to the inference that the defendant was associated with drugs.
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Further, some of theindicia of drug distribution in the common areas
were not well hidden,13 furnishing evidence that the defendant was
aware and involved in the drug distribution. The jury was instructed
to and did consider constructive possession as evidenced by the fact
that it posed a question to the court during deliberations concerning
that very concept. Finally, when Casanova was arrested, he gave his
name to the police as Robert King, Mitchell King's brother, support-
ing the inference that King and Casanova were associated.

These facts constitute sufficient evidence to support the jury's
determination that King was guilty of possession with intent to dis-
tribute cocaine and cocaine base.

V.

The standard of review on appeal of a sentencing judge's applica-
tion of the United States Sentencing Guidelines depends on the issue
presented by the appellant. If the issue turns primarily on afactual
determination, the "clearly erroneous” standard applies. See United
Statesv. Jones, 31 F.3d 1304, 1315 (4th Cir. 1994); United Statesv.
Daughtrey, 874 F.2d 213, 217 (4th Cir. 1989); United States v.
Rusher, 966 F.2d 868, 873 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 926
(1992). If the issue turns primarily on the legal interpretation of a
guideline term, the standard moves closer to de novo review. See
Jones, 31 F.3d at 1315; Daughtrey, 874 F.2d at 217; Rusher, 966 F.2d
at 873. Mixed questions of law and fact are reviewed on a dliding
scale, depending on whether the issues are essentially factual or legal
in nature, under the "due deference” standard. See Jones, 31 F.3d at
1315; Daughtrey, 874 F.2d at 217; Rusher , 966 F.2d at 873. Those
alleged errorsraised for the first time at the appellate level will be
reviewed for plain error. See United Statesv. Mitchell, 1 F.3d 235,
239 (4th Cir. 1993).

The defendant asserts that the Government failed to prove, by a
preponderance of the evidence, that the substance seized was crack
cocaine. Thisissue was not raised at the district court level, and there-
fore, we review for plain error. Seeid. The plain error doctrineis

13 Two sets of scales, packaging materials and a small amount of
cocaine base were in kitchen cabinets.
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applied only where the error is "particularly egregious' and in "those
circumstances in which a miscarriage of justice would otherwise
result." Mitchell, 1 F.3d at 239 (quoting United Statesv. Y oung, 470
U.S. 1, 15 (1985)). "To establish plain error,[a defendant] must dem-
ongtrate that (1) the asserted defect in the trial was, in fact, error; (2)
the error was plain; and (3) the error affected his substantial rights.”
United Statesv. Jackson, 124 F.3d 607, 614 (4th Cir. 1997) (citing
United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 732 (1993)).

In 1993, the Sentencing Commission added the following defini-
tion of cocaine base: ""Cocaine base' for the purposes of this guide-
line, means “crack.' "Crack’ is the street name for aform of cocaine
base, usually prepared by processing cocaine hydrochloride and
sodium bicarbonate, and usually appearing in alumpy, rocklike
form." United States Sentencing Commission, Guidelines Manual,
§2D1.1(c) n. (D) (Nov. 1997).

In United States v. James, 78 F.3d 851, 858 (3d Cir.), cert. denied,
_UsSs __ ,117 SCt. 128 (1996), the Third Circuit held that adis-
trict court erred in applying the United States Sentencing Guideline
enhancement for crack "in absence of proof by a preponderance of the
evidence that the form of cocaine base [the defendant] sold was actu-
ally crack." See also United States v. Culpepper, 916 F. Supp. 1257,
1258 (N.D. Ga. 1995) (holding because the Government failed to
prove the cocaine base was made with sodium bicarbonate, defendant
was required to be sentenced on the basis of the cocaine powder
guidelines), rev'd on other grounds, 116 F.3d 1493 (11th Cir. 1997).
The defendant in James pled guilty. See 78 F.3d at 856. The indict-
ment and the court during the plea colloquy referred to the narcotic
as cocaine base. Seeid. The prosecutor used the terms interchange-
ably, i.e. "cocaine base or crack cocaine." Seeid. Further, at his sen-
tencing, there was expert testimony that there are several ways of
preparing cocaine base. Seeid. at 856-57. The James Court held that
there was not enough evidence to say that the defendant had fully and
voluntarily waived the issue when he pled guilty. Seeid.

The defendant asserts that we should reach a similar outcome. We
disagree. The drugs involved in this case were stipulated to be "co-
caine base" at trial, though the type of cocaine base was not defined.
The stipulation allowed the Government to forgo testimony by a
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chemist at trial. However, the stipulation was not the only evidence
that the drug was "crack." Unlike in James, the indictment in this case
indicated that the defendant was charged with distribution of “cocaine
base ("crack’)." While the indictment aloneis not sufficient to prove
the type of drug involved, see United Statesv. Fletcher, 74 F.3d 49,
53 (4th Cir.), cert. denied,  U.S.__, 117 S.Ct. 157 (1996), itis
further evidence that the drug is "crack." In addition, the substances
were introduced into evidence giving the jurors an opportunity to
examine the drugs themselves and the Presentence Investigation
Report specifically identifies the five packages containing controlled
substances as "cocaine base (crack)." Most importantly, trained nar-
cotic agents testified that four different Government exhibits, which
were the drugs seized from the home, were "crack” cocaine. See
United Statesv. Dolan, 544 F.2d 1219, 1221 (4th Cir. 1976) (holding
that lay testimony and circumstantial evidenceis sufficient, in and of
itself, to establish the identity of controlled substances); United States
v. Boissoneault, 926 F.2d 230, 233 (2d Cir. 1991) ("Agents may aso
offer their interpretations of any physical evidence that is properly
before the jury.") (citations omitted).14 Therefore, no plain error
occurred when the district court determined King's sentence by refer-
ring to the Guidelines crack cocaine penalties.

V.

A district court's refusal to instruct the jury as to the elements of
alesser-included offenseis reviewed for abuse of discretion. See
United Statesv. Levy, 703 F.2d 791, 794 (4th Cir. 1983). However,
matters not properly preserved at the district court level are reviewed
for plain error. See Rogers, 18 F.3d at 268.

Rule 30 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure reads, in perti-

14 The defendant attempts to refute the assertion that the lay testimony

is sufficient by pointing to United States v. Abbas, 74 F.3d 506 (4th Cir.),
cert. denied,  U.S.___, 116 S.Ct. 1868 (1996). While that case does
use a chemist performing several scientific tests to conclude that the sub-
stance in question was heroin, there is nothing in the case that asserts it
must be a chemist, and only a chemist, that makes that determination.
The case discussed the issue of whether Abbas Sixth Amendment Con-
frontation Clause rights were denied. Seeid. at 512-13.

17



nent part: "[n]o party may assign as error any portion of the charge
[to the jury] or omission therefrom unless that party objects thereto
before the jury retiresto consider its verdict, stating distinctly the
matter to which that party objects and the grounds of the objection.”
The objective of Rule 30 isto inform the trial judge of any possible
error or omission in the instructions so that he might have an opportu-
nity to make corrections. See United States v. Hecht, 705 F.2d 976,
978 (8th Cir. 1983). Failure to object prior to jury deliberations oper-
ates as awaiver. When aclaimed error is not properly preserved, it
may be reviewed only for plain error under Federal Rule of Criminal
Procedure 52(b). See United Statesv. Bear Ribs, 722 F.2d 420, 424
(8th Cir. 1983); United States v. Grammatikos , 633 F.2d 1013, 1022
(2d Cir. 1980); United States v. White, 611 F.2d 531, 536 (5th Cir.),
cert. denied, 446 U.S. 992 (1980); United States v. Honneus, 508 F.2d
566, 571 (1st Cir. 1974), cert. denied, 421 U.S. 948 (1975). Again,
"[t]o establish plain error, [a defendant] must establish that (1) the
asserted defect in the trial was, in fact, error; (2) the error was plain;
and (3) the error affected his substantial rights.” Jackson, 124 F.3d at
614 (citing Olano, 507 U.S. at 732).

Thereis obvious harm when the jury suspects that"the defendant
isplainly guilty of some offense, but one of the elements of the
charged offense remains in doubt, [because] in the absence of alesser
offense instruction, the jury will likely fail to give full effect to the
reasonable doubt standard, resolving its doubts in favor of convic-
tion." See Schmuck v. United States, 489 U.S. 702, 722 n.9 (1989).
For the defendant to be entitled to a lesser-included offense instruc-
tion, the proof on the element that differentiates the two offenses must
be sufficiently in dispute to allow ajury consistently to find the defen-
dant innocent of the greater and guilty of the lesser offense. See
United States v. Blankenship, 548 F.2d 1118, 1120 (4th Cir.), cert.
denied, 425 U.S. 978 (1976). An instruction on alesser-included
offenseis proper when the greater offense requires the jury to resolve
adisputed factual element which is not required for conviction of the
lesser offense or when there is no conflict in the testimony but the
conclusion asto the lesser offense fairly may be inferred from the evi-
dence presented. See United Statesv. Wright, 131 F.3d 1111, 1112
(4th Cir. 1997); United States v. Baker, 985 F.2d 1248, 1259 (4th Cir.
1993), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 1040 (1994); see also Sansone v. United
States, 380 U.S. 343, 349 (1965). Reversdl in such cases where the
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instruction is not given is required only where evidence would permit
ajury to rationally find the defendant guilty of the lesser offense. See
Keeblev. United States, 412 U.S. 205, 208 (1973).

Possession of cocaine base is clearly alesser-included offense of
possession with intent to distribute cocaine base. See Baker, 985 F.2d
at 1259; Schmuck, 489 U.S. at 721-22 (elements of alesser-included
offense must be a subset of those of the greater offense). The question
is whether there was sufficient evidence available for areasonable
jury to find the defendant guilty of that lesser-included offense. This
Circuit has held that the instruction is required if requested in drug
distribution cases where substantial affirmative evidence supports the
inference of personal use "unless, as a matter of law, the evidence
would “rule out the possibility of afinding of simple possession,
[because the quantity of drugs found was] so huge asto require that
the case proceed on the theory that the quantity conclusively has dem-
onstrated an intent to distribute.™ Baker , 985 F.2d at 1259 (quoting
United Statesv. Levy, 703 F.2d 791, 793 n.7 (4th Cir. 1983)); see also
Wright, 113 F.3d at 1113-16 (clarifying Baker and Levy holdings as
meaning that alesser-included instruction is only required when there
issubstantial affirmative evidence supporting the inference that the
drugs were for personal use only as opposed for distribution).

In this case, there is some evidence to support the claim that a
lesser-included instruction was warranted in that only a small quantity
of drugs was found in King's room and in his belongings. However,
asmall quantity of drugs alone does not warrant such an instruction.
See Wright, 113 F.3d at 1113. Further, in light of the substantial evi-
dence supporting King's conviction for possession with intent to dis-
tribute 210.3 grams of cocaine base, the large quantity of drugs
involved,15 the scales and packaging material found in the residence,

15 When the drug quantities are too large to support the conclusion that
the drugs were only intended for personal use, no lesser-included offense
instruction is required. See United States v. Espinoza, 827 F.2d 604, 615
(9th Cir. 1987) (instruction unnecessary when no one could claim that 69
pounds of cocaine (equaling approximately 31 kilograms of cocaine) was
consistent with personal use); United States v. Thornton, 746 F.2d 39, 48
(D.C. Cir. 1984) (holding $44,000 of heroin was sufficient to deny a
lesser-included instruction on simple possession); United States v. Seni,
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and the lack of evidence that there were crack pipes or drug consump-
tion paraphernaliafound in the home or that the defendant was a
cocaine abuser instead of a distributor, we cannot conclude that the
district court committed plain errorl6 in finding that a simple posses-
sion instruction was not warranted.

VI.

"A missing witness instruction may be given if the failure of a

party to call awitness permits an inference that the witness's testi-
mony would be unfavorable to the party's case." See United Statesv.
Rukaj, 23 F.3d 404, **2 (4th Cir. 1994) (unpublished disposition)
(citing 2 Charles Wright, Federal Practice and Procedure § 489
(1982)). Theinstruction is appropriate if two requirements are met:

[flirst, it must be shown that the party failing to call the wit-
ness has it peculiarly within its power to produce the witness
... by showing [either: @)] that the witnessis physically
available only to the other party, or [b)] that, because of the
witness's relationship with the other party, the witness
"pragmatically” is only available to that party. . . . Second,
the witness's testimony must "elucidate” issues important to
thetrial, as opposed to being irrelevant or cumulative.

1d.; see also United Statesv. Brooks, 928 F.2d 1403, 1412 (4th Cir.
1991); Rollins, 862 F.2d at 1297 (citations omitted).

662 F.2d 277, 285 (4th Cir. 1981) (holding same with possession of 15
tons of marijuana (equaling approximately 13,620 KG of cocaine)), cert.
denied, 455 U.S. 950 (1982); United States v. Rogers, 504 F.2d 1079,
1084 (5th Cir. 1974) (same with 427 pounds marijuana (equaling approx-
imately 194 KG of cocaine)), cert. denied, 422 U.S. 1042 (1975). For
comparison purposes, under the sentencing guidelines, someone con-
victed of possession with intent to distribute 150 to 500 grams of cocaine
base receives the same sentence as someone convicted of possession with
intent to distribute 3,000 to 10,000 kilograms of marijuana or 15 to 50
kilograms of cocaine.

16 In adopting the plain error standard, we do not express an opinion
regarding whether or not alesser-included instruction would have been
proper if it had been timely requested.
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King's contention fails on the first prong of thistest. The defendant
merely asserts that H. Foy, the owner of the 1020-C East Fifth Street,
and Marine Peterkin, whose affidavit secured a search warrant, were
on the Government's witness list and that those witnesses were pres-
ent in the courthouse, but the Government failed to call them to the
stand. The defendant, however, does not give any reason why the wit-
nesses were peculiarly within the Government's control or why he
could not have called the witnesses to the stand. Therefore, this argu-
ment fails. See United Statesv. Milton, 52 F.3d 78, 81 (4th Cir. 1995)
("We have reviewed [the assignment of error asserting that the district
court abused its discretion in denying defendant's request for amiss-
ing witness instruction] and find it to be without merit inasmuch as
the "missing witness," Jothan Schnella, was equally available to both
sides."); Brooks, 928 F.2d at 1412 ("There was no showing that
Bowler was missing. Bowler was not under the control of the govern-
ment. . . . Moreover, in this case the witness was equally available to
both the defendants and the government. Either defendant could have
subpoenaed him to appear and then examined him at trial. Neither
choseto do so. . . . Under these circumstances, neither side was enti-
tled to argue to the jury the absence of Bowler or to draw any infer-
ences from his absence.").

AFFIRMED
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